COA NO. 74802-5-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

KATHRYN ST. CLARE

Appellant.

FILED
Jul 25, 2016
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

The Honorable George N. Bowden, Judge

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CASEY GRANNIS
Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC
1908 East Madison
Seattle, WA 98122
(206) 623-2373

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The "to convict" instruction for each count misstated and lowered the State's burden of proof, in violation of due process.

2. Appellant was denied her constitutional right to jury unanimity on counts 1, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8 and 10.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. Whether the "to convict" instruction for each count of first degree animal cruelty misstated and lowered the State's burden of proof in decoupling the mens rea element of negligence from the acts of starving and dehydrating the animals?

2. Whether appellant's right to an expressly unanimous jury verdict was violated because there was insufficient evidence to prove an alternative means of committing first degree animal cruelty for seven counts?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Background

Kathryn St. Clare is mentally ill. CP 25, 37. She suffers from a hoarding disorder, which causes her to take in cats. CP 25, 36-37. She is devoted to the animals, but the hoarding disorder compromises her ability to recognize and ameliorate substandard conditions affecting their health. CP 25, 36-37.

St. Clare came to the attention of animal control authorities when concerned citizens noticed a large number of cats in poor sanitary conditions inside a trailer owned by St. Clare. CP 26. The cats were ultimately removed by animal control officers and euthanized. CP 27.

Initially, St. Clare was considered for Therapeutic Alternatives to Prosecution (TAP), a pre-file felony diversion program. 2RP¹ 14-15, 17. Participants are eligible when felony offenses are directly related to mental illness or drug/alcohol dependency. See Snohomish County Code 298. St. Clare is indigent and homeless. 2RP 102, 319, 353, 427; CP 1-3, 5. Her financial inability to pay restitution operated as a bar to entry into the program.² 2RP 415. So the Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office charged St. Clare with three counts of first degree animal cruelty. CP 121-22. When St. Clare did not plead guilty, the State increased the number of charges to 10 counts. CP 113-15; 1RP 3; 2RP 424. The case went to trial.

¹ The verbatim report of proceedings is referenced as follows: 1RP - 9/24/15; 2RP - five consecutively paginated volumes consisting of 12/7/15, 12/8/15, 12/9/15, 12/10/15, 2/2/16.

² According to the Snohomish County website, "These offenders are held accountable for their crimes through participation in self-paid evaluation and rehabilitation, payment of restitution to victims, payment of other fees and fines, and successful completion of all terms and conditions of a diversion contract." (available at <http://snohomishcountywa.gov/714/Criminal-Division>).

2. Trial

On April 28, 2014, animal control received a citizen complaint about a trailer in a field. 2RP 85. The citizen was concerned there were about 25 cats inside the trailer, but reported the cats seemed to be fed and watered. 2RP 85.

On April 30, animal control officer Delgado went to the scene and smelled a strong stench of cat urine as he approached the trailer. 2RP 85-86. No one was present at the time. 2RP 86. The door to the trailer was locked. 2RP 86. Windows along the trailer were open. 2RP 86. There was air traveling through. 2RP 90. A vent on top of the trailer seemed to be open and operating. 2RP 86. From the outside, Delgado looked into the trailer and saw about 50 cats. 2RP 86-87. The inside of the trailer had shelves and tables set up. 2RP 86. There were some crates inside, which were not closed. 2RP 87, 92. Litter boxes were out for the cats. 2RP 87.

It was a fairly warm day, but Delgado did not see any sign that the animals were physically distressed. 2RP 87. The cats looked relaxed and acted normal. 2RP 90. He did not see any food bowls, although his range of view was limited. 2RP 87. One bowl looked like it had water in it. 2RP 87. Before leaving, Delgado left a note on the trailer door asking its owner to contact him so that he could obtain more information on what

was going on. 2RP 87-88. Delgado received no response. 2RP 88. When he returned to the location on May 16, the trailer was gone. 2RP 88.

On June 15, animal control received a citizen complaint regarding a trailer parked on a power line easement near Lake Stevens, "out in the full sun containing numerous cats in poor conditions." 2RP 101. On June 16, animal control officer Rench went to the location and spoke with St. Clare, who was present. 2RP 101. St. Clare told Rench that she was homeless and living out of her truck. 2RP 102.

There was an overwhelming smell of urine and fecal matter coming from the trailer. 2RP 103. St. Clare did not want Rench to look inside the trailer because she was embarrassed it was dirty and was afraid cats would escape. 2RP 102-03. She let Rench look through the windows. 2RP 103. Rench saw 40-60 cats inside. 2RP 103. Litter boxes were overflowing with feces. 2RP 103. Rench did not see any food or water inside. 2RP 103. Cats were in various conditions. 2RP 103-04. Several looked very thin, emaciated. 2RP 104. Some looked like they had green discharge coming out of their eyes and nose. 2RP 104. The cats seemed lethargic. 2RP 104. St. Clare told her the cats had feline leukemia. 2RP 104, 157. She had a hard time finding homes for the cats because they were sick and had special needs. 2RP 104. The cats were of all ages.

2RP 105. Several of the cats were not spayed/neutered and were reproducing. 2RP 105.

Rench was concerned that the trailer was parked in the full sun without shade, and there were many sick cats inside with little to no food or water. 2RP 105. The trailer was unsanitary. 2RP 106. Rench told St. Clare to clean the trailer, find homes for as many cats as possible and provide vet care to the sick cats. 2RP 106. St. Clare assured Rench the situation was temporary. 2RP 106. She was trying to find homes for them. 2RP 106. Rench told her she would check back in a few days. 2RP 107.

Rench came back on June 20. 2RP 107-08. St. Clare was present. 2RP 108-09. The trailer door was open. 2RP 108. The ammonia smell was diminished and there was more airflow coming into the trailer. 2RP 108. The trailer had been cleaned. 2RP 108. There were a lot less cats. 2RP 108. There were 17 cats in the trailer. 2RP 108. Some cats were outside the trailer wandering around. 2RP 108. St. Clare had been feeding the cats chicken and goat milk. 2RP 109. She talked about her efforts to provide alternative or holistic-type medicine to the cats, and also antibiotics. 2RP 163, 180. She was trying to address the feline leukemia problem. 2RP 163-64.

St. Clare said she had found homes for a few cats. 2RP 109. A couple cats roaming around were extremely thin. 2RP 109. Some were

missing hair. 2RP 109. One cat looked lethargic and had discharge coming from its nose and mouth. 2RP 109. St. Clare had not obtained any veterinary care. 2RP 110. Rench advised her to continue to reduce the number of cats and to get vet care for the sick and emaciated cats. 2RP 110. Rench also told her to leave the trailer door open because there was no shade and it was extremely hot out. 2RP 110. If she moved her location she was to notify Rench. 2RP 110. St. Clare again assured Rench that it was a temporary situation. 2RP 113.

Rench came back on June 30. 2RP 113. St. Clare was present. 2RP 113. She said she found homes for some more cats. 2RP 113. The conditions were about the same. 2RP 113. Rench reiterated what she told her before. 2RP 113.

On July 5, private citizen Gyda Harris came across a parked trailer full of cats in the Lake Stevens area. 2RP 188-90. A horrific smell of "cat box" emanated from the trailer. 2RP 189-90. She peeked inside and saw what she described as sick and starved cats. 2RP 190. She did not see any food or water inside. 2RP 190. There was horrendous filth. 2RP 190. She estimated there were 30 cats inside. 2RP 191. When she opened a window, about 10 cats jumped out. 2RP 191. She was there for about 30 minutes. 2RP 198.

On July 6, Harris returned to the trailer with Linda Dell Beilfus. 2RP 63, 192. Harris estimated the temperature to be mid to high 80's or near 100 degrees outside. 2RP 197, 201. Sunlight was hitting the trailer. 2RP 58. There seemed to be more cats than she remembered from the day before. 2RP 192. Beilfus estimated 50 to 100 cats were inside. 2RP 57, 59. She did not check to see if the windows were open. 2RP 58. There was no canopy. 2RP 69.

A stench emanated from the trailer. 2RP 59. It smelled like "a big old cat box." 2RP 57. Beilfus described what she saw as "starving cats of all sizes they were totally unkempt." 2RP 60. Cats appeared sick and near death. 2RP 59. She did not see any food or water inside. 2RP 60.³ Someone broke the lock on the trailer and they gave the cats some bowls of water. 2RP 59, 61, 195-96, 198. The cats just sat there. 2RP 61. One cat looked dead. 2RP 61, 196-97. Harris and Beilfus were there for about 30 minutes. 2RP 67, 198. When they came back two hours later, the trailer was no longer there. 2RP 62, 194-95. They reported their concerns to animal control. 2RP 60, 195.

On July 7, animal control officers Rench and Davis, responding to the complaint, went to where they had previously encountered the trailer.

³ Harris did not know what food or water was provided when they were not there. 2RP 200-01. Beilfus did not know how frequently the owner checked on the trailer. 2RP 67.

2RP 114. It was not there. 2RP 114. St. Clare had not given notice of where she went. 2RP 115. The trailer was subsequently found at a nearby dairy farm. 2RP 115. A stench from cat feces and urine emanated from the trailer. 2RP 204-05. When questioned about the cats being locked inside over the weekend, St. Clare said the cats were in there for only three hours at a time. 2RP 116. She denied any cat was dead. 2RP 116. She let the officers see the cats in the trailer. 2RP 117. There were around 40 to 50 cats. 2RP 118. There were more cats than the last time, including a mother with kittens that St. Clare had earlier said she found a home for. 2RP 118-19. Food, water and milk were available for the cats. 2RP 118.

According to Rench, it was "extremely hot out," "upper '80s or so." 2RP 117. Several windows and the roof vent were open, but otherwise "everything was pretty much closed up." 2RP 117. There was "no ventilation". 2RP 118. There was a strong ammonia smell. 2RP 118. Several cats were lethargic and had green discharge coming out of their eyes and nose.⁴ 2RP 118. Several looked emaciated. 2RP 123-24. Rench told her that she was extremely concerned for the cats and that St. Clare needed to do something immediately. 2RP 119. St. Clare said she would take the cats to a dairy barn in Duvall that night. 2RP 119. Rench told her

⁴ Officer Davis said 30 or 40 cats appeared to be sick with green discharge around their eyes and nostril area. 2RP 205.

to plug in a fan to provide better ventilation and cooler temperatures. 2RP 119. Rench reiterated that St. Clare needed to seek care for those cats that were sick or emaciated. 2RP 120. Rench offered to transport the cats to a shelter. 2RP 120. St. Clare did not agree to sign the cats over for transport. 2RP 120.

On July 8, Rench and Davis returned to the dairy farm. 2RP 120-21, 205. The trailer was gone. 2RP 121. St. Clare had not told Rench where she went. 2RP 121. On July 9, the trailer was located about a mile away, parked next to tall brush in unincorporated Snohomish County. 2RP 122, 20-06. The trailer was not shaded from the afternoon sun and was covered with what Rench described as "black tarps."⁵ 2RP 122. Rench was concerned because any time she had seen food and water out for the cats, it was only a "minimal amount" and "not sufficient for the number of animals in the trailer." 2RP 123.⁶ The temperature inside the

⁵ They were permeable mesh tarps. 2RP 170-71. According to St. Clare, they function as shade cloths, blocking 80 percent of the sun. 2RP 347. This was her attempt to keep the trailer cooler. 2RP 348. Rench theorized the tarps were possibly put there to hide the trailer, but conceded they may have been put up to provide shade. 2RP 171. Davis described the trailer as being covered with black plastic tarps. 2RP 205. He said St. Clare was trying to hide the trailer from view. 2RP 205. St. Clare denied moving the trailer to hide it from animal control. 2RP 347.

⁶ During one of the contacts, Rench learned St. Clare brought water in jugs to the cats. 2RP 162.

trailer was extremely hot, there was a very strong smell of ammonia, and the cats were in an overcrowded condition. 2RP 124.

On July 11, Rench obtained a search warrant and returned to the trailer's location. 2RP 124. St. Clare was not there. 2RP 125. The trailer was in the full sun, covered in black "tarps." 2RP 124-25, 262. The door to the trailer was padlocked shut. 2RP 125. There were some windows open. 2RP 125, 172. A big canopy provided some shade. 2RP 172. The cats were confined to the trailer. 2RP 125. There was a very strong smell of ammonia coming from the trailer. 2RP 128.

St. Clare arrived 15 minutes later. 2RP 127. Rench told her that they had a warrant and St. Clare turned over the key to the trailer. 2RP 127-28. The trailer had an extreme smell of cat urine. 2RP 128. Feces covered the floor. 2RP 128. Cats were lethargic. 2RP 128, 130. Some cats were panting and "appeared dehydrated." 2RP 128, 130, 173. Rench acknowledged cats possibly pant as a general sign of distress or fear rather than pain or thirst. 2RP 173-74. Officers did not see any food or water in the trailer. 2RP 128-29, 263, 274. The temperature inside the trailer was 85 degrees. 2RP 129. Several cats "looked near death." 2RP 129.

The trailer was towed to the Everett Animal Shelter. 2RP 131. 111 cats were removed from the trailer, some with cat tongs, which are poles with a grabbing claw on the front. 2RP 130, 264-65, 275.

Rench had no specific memory of all 111 cats. 2RP 138. Cats had lice. 2RP 137. Several were missing hair. 2RP 138. They had ear mites, chewed up ears, missing teeth, and discharge from the nose and mouth. 2RP 138. Feces caked their paws. 2RP 138. She said many of the cats were emaciated and extremely dehydrated. 2RP 137. Rench had no independent memory of any of the 10 cats designated as part of the State's case. 2RP 139.

Rench acknowledged it was possible that cats suffering from feline leukemia or FIV ("feline AIDS") provided with food and water on a constant basis could still look sick and become dehydrated because their bodies are unable to take advantage of food and water. 2RP 178-79. She felt a cat that is sick might require additional assistance to make sure they are eating and drinking properly. 2RP 181.

Dr. Thompson, a veterinarian at the shelter, examined all 111 cats on July 11. 2RP 135, 207-09.⁷ They were all euthanized during the course of examination. 2RP 137, 247-48.

⁷ The warrant was served at 10 a.m. that day. 2RP 176. The cats were given no food or water before the vet examined them. 2RP 176. No examination took place until after 11:30 a.m. 2RP 267. The vet said she started the examination at 9 a.m., which is inconsistent with the timeline provided by the animal control officers. 2RP 246. The examinations were finished by 5 p.m. 2RP 246.

The general condition of the cats as a whole included dried feces and/or urine on their body, ear mites, lice, hair loss,⁸ dental disease, and loose or missing teeth. 2RP 210, 218.

Three cats (Cat #6 included among them) were tested for feline leukemia and FIV. 2RP 219, 224. One tested positive for FIV and the other two tested positive for both FIV and feline leukemia virus. 2RP 219. The leukemia virus is highly contagious. 2RP 219. Both viruses suppress the immune system. 2RP 219.

Dr. Thompson described the means by which body condition and dehydration are measured. 2RP 211-18. A body condition score is a measurement for how abnormally thin or obese an animal is on a scale of 1 to 9. 2RP 211. The average cat should be a 5. 2RP 211. A cat with a body score of 1 is so emaciated it looks like skin over a skeleton. 2RP 211.⁹ A score of 2 also signifies emaciation. 2RP 215. A score of 3 means the cat is significantly or severely underweight; you can feel their ribs and might be able to see them; you can feel their hip bone and the abdomen is tucked in. 2RP 215, 232. A score of 4 is slightly underweight. 2RP 215.

⁸ Hair loss can be due to itching from lice or over grooming from stress. 2RP 210-11.

⁹ A cat with a score of 9 is so obese it looks like a bowling ball. 2RP 211.

Of the 111 cats, 7 were emaciated based on a body score of 1 or 2. 2RP 215. 14 cats were significantly underweight with a body score of 3. 2RP 215. 67 cats were slightly underweight with a body score of 4. 2RP 215. 23 were not underweight. 2RP 216. According to Thompson, of the cats that were emaciated or severely underweight, the lack of available food was by far the biggest contributor. 2RP 220-21. When cats are hoarded with a limited supply of food and water, the bigger, healthier ones consume a majority of the resources and the weaker, sicker animals are not able to compete. 2RP 217. The majority of cats that had a body condition score of 4 were the bigger cats. 2RP 217. Thompson acknowledged a cat could be so sick that it would not eat and drink even with food and water sitting right in front of it. 2RP 251-52.

There are two ways to measure dehydration. 2RP 217-18. One is called a "skin trigger," which involves tenting up the skin on the scruff of the neck. 2RP 217.¹⁰ If a cat is well hydrated, the skin goes right back down. 2RP 217. Skin that goes down slowly signifies mild dehydration. 2RP 217. Skin that stays up in a ridge means severe dehydration (10

¹⁰ Rench called it a "snap test." 2RP 142. Rench said for cats that were clearly dehydrated, the skin would stay in a folded position for a prolonged period of time when the snap test was done. 2RP 143.

percent). 2RP 217-18. 2RP 218. 5 percent is noticeably dehydrated. 2RP 214. 7 percent is more seriously dehydrated. 2RP 214.¹¹

54 of the 111 cats were noticeably or significantly dehydrated. 2RP 214. 26 were five percent dehydrated. 2RP 214. 28 were seven percent dehydrated. 2RP 214. Dr. Thompson opined the cause of dehydration for these 54 cats was having no access to water for a significant period of time, or receiving water intermittently. 2RP 220. Increased ambient temperature could contribute to dehydration. 2RP 221.

Cat #6 (designated in count 1) had a body condition score of 2, indicating emaciation. 2RP 224. Its ribs were visible through the fur. 2RP 139; Ex. 24. Feeling the cat, there was no body fat covering the ribs, spine and hip bones. 2RP 139. It was covered in feces and urine. 2RP 139. It had ear mites and lice, severe hair loss and a pot bellied appearance.¹² 2RP 139, 223-24. There was no testimony that cat #6 was dehydrated. 2RP 139, 223-27.

Cat #9 (count 4) had a body condition score of 2. 2RP 228. The cat was emaciated. 2RP 140. It was covered in feces and urine. 2RP 140.

¹¹ The other way to assess for dehydration is to check the gums. 2RP 218. Dry gums mean a cat is dehydrated. 2RP 218.

¹² A pot belly means a distended abdomen where the abdomen is bigger than it should be for the body condition score of a cat. 2RP 212. Causes of pot belly include viral disease, heart failure, parasitic intestinal disease, intestinal cancers, liver disease, and kidney disease. 2RP 212.

It had lice, ear mites and potbelly. 2RP 140, 228. There was no testimony that cat #9 was dehydrated. 2RP 139-40, 227-28.

Cat #13 (count 5) had a body condition score of 4. 2RP 229. Rench described the cat as "thin." 2RP 141. It had a muscle condition score of 2. 2RP 230. A muscle condition score measures muscle mass, with 1 being least amount of muscle mass and 3 being normal.¹³ 2RP 229-30. It had lice and ear mites. 2RP 141. Cat #13 had seven percent dehydration, which is severe. 2RP 229.

Cat #17 (count 6) had a body condition score of 4. 2RP 230. Rench described the cat as "thin." 2RP 141-42. It was covered in feces, urine and lice. 2RP 142. Yellow discharge was coming out of its eyes. 2RP 230-31. Cat #17 had seven percent dehydration. 2RP 230.

Cat #26 (count 7) had a body condition score of 4. 2RP 231. Rench described the cat as "thin." 2RP 143. Its muscle score was 2. 2RP 231. Its dehydration was five percent. 2RP 231. Cat #26 was covered in feces and urine. 2RP 143. It had mites, lice and discharge from the eyes, nose and mouth. 2RP 143-44. It had pot belly. 2RP 231.

Cat #28 (count 2) had a body condition score of 3, which signified being severely underweight. 2RP 232. The level of dehydration was

¹³ Thompson testified muscle loss is due to any chronic condition, such as kidney issues or chronic disease. 2RP 229, 243.

seven percent. 2RP 233. It was covered in feces and urine. 2RP 144. It had ear mites, lice and discharge from the eyes, nose and mouth. 2RP 144, 233. It had pot belly. 2RP 232.

Cat #55 (count 8) had a body condition score of 4. 2RP 233. Rench described the cat as "thin." 2RP 144. It had a muscle mass of 2. 2RP 233. It had five percent dehydration. 2RP 234. It was covered in urine and feces. 2RP 144. It had lice and discharge from the nose and eyes. 2RP 145. It was missing hair from most of its body. 2RP 144-45. It had pot belly. 2RP 233.

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