74802-5

74802-5

NO. 74802-5-1

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OFTHE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON

Respondent

۷.

FILED Nov 09, 2016 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

KATHRYN ST. CLARE,

Appellant

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK K. ROE Prosecuting Attorney

ANDREW E. ALSDORF Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. THE DEFENDANT'S CHALLENGE TO THE "TO CONVICT" JURY INSTRUCTION, RAISED FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL, DOES NOT IMPLICATE A MANIFEST CONSTITUTIONAL ERROR.

The defendant argues that the "to convict" instructions, to which he offered no objection at trial, "misstated and lowered the State's burden of proof, in violation of due process." Br. App. 1. He explains that the to-convict instructions did not "adequately convey that the mens rea element of criminal negligence attaches to the acts of starving or dehydrating the cat." Br. App. 32.

Generally the court will not review an error raised for the first time on appeal. <u>State v. Kirkman</u>, 159 Wn.2d 918, 926, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). The rule is designed to promote the efficient use of judicial resources. "The appellate courts will not sanction a party's failure to point out at trial an error which the trial court, if given the opportunity, might have been able to correct to avoid an appeal and a consequent new trial." <u>State v. O'Hara</u>, 167 Wn.2d 91, 98, 217 P.3d 756 (2009).

An alleged error that was not raised in the trial court may be reviewed if it constitutes a "manifest constitutional error." The failure to instruct a jury on every element of the charged crime, for example, would be constitutional in nature. <u>State v. Grimes</u>, 165 Wn. App. 172, 186, 267 P.3d 454 (2011). Other examples of "manifest" constitutional errors in jury instructions include: directing a verdict, shifting the burden of proof to the defendant, failing to define the "beyond a reasonable doubt" standard, failing to require a unanimous verdict, and omitting an element of the crime charged. <u>State v. Scott</u>, 110 Wn.2d 682, 688 n.5, 757 P.2d 492 (1988). In contrast, failure to instruct on a lesser included offense, and failure to define individual terms are instructional errors which fall short of manifest error. <u>Id</u>. at 688.

The "to convict" instruction must include all of the elements of the crime charged. <u>State v. Fisher</u>, 165 Wn.2d 727, 753, 202 P.3d 937 (2009). An "element" is defined as "the constituent parts of a crime—usu[ally] consisting of the actus reus, mens rea, and causation—that the prosecution must prove to sustain a conviction." <u>Id. at 754 guoting Black's Law Dictionary 559 (8th ed.</u>

2004). The statutory elements of a crime constitute the essential elements. A constitutionally adequate "to convict" instruction need not contain all pertinent law such as the definition of terms. <u>Id</u>. "The court not only may, but should, use the language of the statute, in instructing the jury, where the law governing the case is expressed in the statute." <u>State v. Hardwick</u>, 74 Wn.2d 828, 830, 447 P.2d 80 (1968).

Here, the court instructed the jury as follows:

To convict the defendant of the crime of animal cruelty in the first degree, as charged in count one, each of the following elements of the crime must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt:

(1) That the defendant acted by one or more of the following means or methods:

- a. That during a period of time intervening between on or about April 28, 2014 and on or about July 11, 2014, the defendant starved an animal designated "Cat #6";
- b. That during a period of time intervening between on or about April 28, 2014 and on or about July 11, 2014, the defendant dehydrated an animal designated "Cat #6";
- (2) The defendant acted with criminal negligence;
- (3) As a result, the animal suffered substantial and unjustifiable physical pain that extended for a period sufficient to cause considerable suffering; and
- (4) That the acts occurred in the State of Washington.

If you find from the evidence that elements (2), (3), and (4), and either of alternative elements (1)(a) or (1)(b) have been proved beyond a reasonable doubt, then it will be your duty to return a verdict of guilty. To return a verdict of guilty, the jury need not be unanimous as to which of alternatives (1)(a) or (1)(b) has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt, as long as each juror finds that at least one alternative has been proved beyond а reasonable doubt. On the other hand, if, after weighing all the evidence. you have a reasonable doubt as to any one of elements (1), (2), (3), or (4), then it will be your duty to return a verdict of not guilty.

CP 77-78. The court provided identical instructions for all ten counts, changing only the identified victim cat to correspond with the charging document. CP 79-96.

Although there is no pattern instruction for animal cruelty in

the first degree, the language of the instruction matches the

language of the statute in all material respects:

A person is guilty of animal cruelty in the first degree when, except as authorized by law, he or she, with criminal negligence, starves, dehydrates, or suffocates an animal and as a result causes: (a) Substantial and unjustifiable physical pain that extends for a period sufficient to cause considerable suffering; or (b) death.

RCW 16.52.205(2); see CP 113-115.

It is apparent from the language of the court's instruction that every essential element of the crime was included, and that the appropriate standard of proof, "beyond a reasonable doubt" was referenced not once but twice. Further, the defendant's assertion that the negligence standard was inappropriately "decoupled" from the first element of the crime is disproved by the repeated use of the word "acted" in both elements. Read as a whole, element one defines the criminal act (*actus reus*) and element two defines the requisite mental state (*mens rea*) accompanying the defendant's *actions*.

The defendant's current allegation that the connection between the mens rea and the actus reus could have been more clearly annunciated is not accurate, much less an issue of constitutional magnitude. If this instruction was error at all, it could have been corrected or clarified if the defendant had only followed his obligation under CrR 6.15(c) to provide his own proposed jury instructions, and to object to any proposed instructions before they were given. The alleged error is not reviewable for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a)(3).

B. THE "TO CONVICT" INSTRUCTION WAS AN ACCURATE AND CLEAR STATEMENT OF THE LAW.

The defendant argues that the "to convict" instruction was insufficiently clear regarding "What act must be tied to the criminal negligence standard?" Br. App. 32. Contrary to the defendant's

assertion that the instruction does not answer this question, the trial court thought the instruction was clear. RP 400. The plain language of the instruction shows that the trial court was correct - there is no room for confusion or ambiguity because, again, the second element sets a criminal negligence standard to be applied to the defendant's *actions*. The only action referenced anywhere else in the "to convict" instruction is in the first element of the crime: "that the defendant *acted* by one or more of the following means or methods:...the defendant starved an animal...the defendant dehydrated an animal." CP 77. No other action is referenced which could justifiably confuse a reasonable juror.

The defendant cites no case authority in which a "to convict" instruction was later deemed erroneous because the mens rea element was set forth as its own separately numbered element. The only authority he does cite to support this portion of his argument is <u>State v. Saunders</u>, 177 Wn. App. 259, 270, 311 P.3d 601 (2013). Br. App. 32-35. In <u>Saunders</u> this Court determined that the definition of "restrain" was *not* an essential element that needed to be included in the "to convict" instruction in a kidnapping case. <u>Id</u>. at 269. Neither the result nor the subject matter in <u>Saunders</u> aids this Court's current task of determining whether the "to convict"

instruction accurately set forth the criminal negligence element of animal cruelty. To the extent that the concept of criminal negligence requires further definition, the trial court provided it in a separate definitional instruction:

A person is criminally negligent or acts with criminal negligence when he or she fails to be aware of a substantial risk that substantial and unjustifiable physical pain that extends for a period sufficient to cause considerable suffering or death may occur and this failure constitutes a gross deviation from the standard of care that a reasonable person would exercise in the same situation.

When criminal negligence as to a particular fact or result is required to establish an element of a crime, the element is also established if a person acts intentionally or knowingly or recklessly as to that particular fact or result.

CP 98; WPIC 10.04 (modified). The court also provided definitions of the terms "knowingly," "intentionally," and "recklessly." CP 99-101. Just as the defendant's trial attorney had no objection to the court providing these further definitional instructions, the defendant on appeal has assigned no error to them. Br. App. 1. See State v.

<u>Gentry</u>, 125 Wn.2d 570, 648, 888 P.2d 1105 (1995).

The "to convict" instructions in this case accurately set forth the essential elements of the crime of animal cruelty in the first degree and the standard of proof the State must meet to obtain a conviction. RCW 16.52.205(2); CP 77. In arguing otherwise, the defendant speculates about what the jury was thinking when it asked whether the terms "starved" and "dehydrated" implied intent. Br. App. 33; CP 67. Everyone agreed that the answer to that question was "No." RP 398-400.

The record of a criminal trial is not designed to conduct a thorough inquiry into how a specific jury apprehended a particular jury instruction. <u>See State v. Ng</u>, 110 Wn.2d 32, 43, 750 P.2d 632 (1988)("Here, the jury's question does not create an inference that the entire jury was confused, or that any confusion was not clarified before a final verdict was reached.). "Questions from the jury are not final determinations, and the decision of the jury is contained exclusively in the verdict." <u>Id</u>.

C. STARVATION AND DEHYDRATION ARE NOT ALTERNATIVE MEANS OF COMMITTING ANIMAL CRUELTY IN THE FIRST DEGREE.

This Court has previously held "that starvation, dehydration, and suffocation are different ways of committing the crime of animal cruelty in the first degree and are not merely descriptive or definitional but rather, separate and essential terms of the offense." <u>State v. Peterson</u>, 174 Wn. App. 828, 851, 301 P.3d 1060 (2013). In <u>Peterson</u> this Court relied on the law of the case doctrine, and little else, to determine that starvation and dehydration are alternative means. <u>Id</u>. (citing <u>State v. Hickman</u>, 135 Wn.2d 97, 102, 954 P.2d 900 (1998)). However, as this Court concluded just this year, <u>Hickman</u>'s law of the case doctrine no longer guides appellate review of a "to convict" jury instruction. <u>State v. Tyler</u>, 195 Wn. App. 385, ¶ 31 (2016).

Rather, the State Supreme Court's subsequent guidance on alternative means crimes calls for a reconsideration of this issue. <u>See State v. Owens</u>, 180 Wn.2d 90, 97, 323 P.3d 1030 (2014) ("alternative means should be distinguished based on how varied the actions are that could constitute the crime."); <u>State v. Sandholm</u>, 184 Wn.2d 726, 734, 364 P.3d 87 (2015) ("when the statute describes minor nuances inhering in the same act, the more likely the various "alternatives" are merely facets of the same criminal conduct.").

In <u>Sandholm</u> the court addressed whether the DUI statute created alternate means of committing the crime while "under the influence of or affected by" either intoxicating liquor or drugs, RCW 46.61.502(1)(b), or a combination of intoxicating liquor and drugs, RCW 46.61.502(1)(c). The court held that the statute created a single means of committing the crime, "driving while under the

'influence of' or 'affected by' certain substances that may impair the driver." <u>Sandholm</u>, 184 Wn.2d at 735. The court described the two subsections of the statute as "facets of the same conduct, not distinct criminal acts." <u>Id</u>.

In <u>Owens</u> this court found there were eight alternative means of committing trafficking in stolen property: "knowingly (1) initiating, (2) organizing, (3) planning, (4) financing, (5) directing, (6) managing, or (7) supervising the theft of property for sale to others, or (8) knowingly trafficking in stolen property." Owens, 180 Wn.2d at 97. Because there was insufficient evidence to support at least one means the conviction was reversed. Id. at 94. The Supreme Court reversed this decision, relying on the reasoning in State v. Lindsey, 177 Wn. App. 233, 241-242, 31 P.3d 61 (2013), review denied, 180 Wn.2d 1022 (2014). There the court found that the statute listed only two alternative means of committing the crime. The first seven terms were all facets of a single means of committing the crime describing the act of facilitating or participating in a theft so that the items can be sold. Id. at 97-98. These terms were slight variations on the same act, and therefore constituted only a single means of committing the crime.

These cases demonstrate that where a statute "describes minor nuances inhering in the same act, the more likely the various 'alternatives' are merely facets of the same criminal conduct." Sandholm, 184 Wn.2d at 734. Like the statute at issue in Owens, RCW 16.52.205(2) sets out a single means of committing the crime.¹ The two disputed terms at issue in this case, "starves" and "dehydrates," each relate to the defendant's criminally negligent failure to provide animals under her care with the basic sustenance required for survival. It is a matter of common understanding that one cannot adequately care for an animal without providing both adequate food and adequate water. Over time, failure in one respect will almost always negate compliance with the other. Most animal owners correctly address the caloric and hydration needs of their animals together in a unified approach, in recognition that food and water work together to maintain an animal's survival. This is not only a matter of common understanding, but something the defendant understood as well. RP 340 ("[W]hen cats become

¹ Although the issue is not before this court, the State would agree that subsections (1), (2), and (3) of RCW 16.52.205 each represent alternative means of committing the crime. However, this court's task is to determine whether the two verbs "starves" and "dehydrates" represent alternative means within subsection (2), or alternatively, whether they are a "means within a means."

dehydrated, they lose their appetite."). In light of these cases this court should reconsider whether the words "starves" and "dehydrates" are truly alternative means when they are included in the "to convict" instruction. It is more consistent with <u>Sandholm</u> and <u>Owens</u> to declare these "means within a means" because they are minor nuances inhering in the same act of providing the basic necessities of life to an animal under one's care.

D. THE DEFENDANT'S RIGHT TO A UNANIMOUS JURY VERDICT WAS NOT VIOLATED.

If the court agrees that "starves" and "dehydrates" are not alternative means of committing the offense then the court need not analyze the unanimity issue. <u>Sandholm</u>, 184 Wn.2d at 733.

The defendant argues there was insufficient evidence to support a dehydration theory as to counts 1 and 4, and insufficient evidence to support a starvation theory as to counts 5, 6, 7, 8, and 10. Br. App. 40-43. Evidence is sufficient to sustain a conviction if after viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the State, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>State v. Green</u>, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). "A claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State's evidence and all inferences that reasonably can

be drawn therefrom" <u>State v. Salinas</u>, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). All reasonable inferences are drawn in favor of the verdict, and most strongly against the defendant. <u>State v.</u> <u>Gentry</u>, 125 Wn.2d 570, 597, 888 P.2d 1105, <u>cert. denied</u>, 516 U.S. 843, 116 S.Ct. 131, 133 L.Ed.2d 79 (1995). Circumstantial and direct evidence are equally reliable. <u>State v. Delmarter</u>, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980).

1. The Jury Heard Sufficient Evidence Of Dehydration As To Counts 1 And 4.

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